
 

 

INSPECTION RECORD 
 
 
Region:   III  Inspection Report No. 2017001 License No. 13-24480-01 
  Docket No. 030-28612 
 
Licensee: K&S Engineers, Inc. 
  9715 Kennedy Avenue   

Highland, IN  46322 
 
Locations Inspected: Same as above 
 
Licensee Contact:  Dibakar Sundi, P.E. – President/RSO Telephone No. 219-924-5231 
 
Program Code: 03121 Priority: 5 
 
Type of Inspection: (  ) Initial (X) Routine (  ) Announced 
 (  ) Special  (X) Unannounced 
 
Last Inspection Date: 06/28/2012 Date of This Inspection: 05/16/2017, with in-office 
  review through 07/05/2017 
   
Next Inspection Date: 05/16/2020 (  ) Normal (X) Reduced 
 

Justification for reducing the routine inspection interval: 
 
The licensee has continued to maintain poor oversight of the radiation safety program, 
as demonstrated by multiple violations in four of the last five inspections. 

 
Summary of Findings and Actions: 
 

(  ) No violations cited, clear U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Form 591 or 
regional letter issued 

(  ) Non-cited violations (NCVs) 
(  ) Violation(s), Form 591 issued 
(X) Violation(s), regional letter issued 
(  ) Follow-up on previous violations 
 
 

Inspector: Ryan Craffey, Health Physicist    
 
 /RA/   Date   7/31/2017  

  Signature 
 
Approved: Aaron T. McCraw, Chief, MIB    
 

 /RA/   Date   8/11/2017  
  Signature 
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PART I - LICENSE, INSPECTION, INCIDENT/EVENT AND ENFORCEMENT HISTORY 
 
1. AMENDMENTS AND PROGRAM CHANGES SINCE LAST INSPECTION: 

 
No amendments or substantial program changes since the last inspection. 

 
2. INSPECTION AND ENFORCEMENT HISTORY: 

 
REPORT # DATE  TYPE RESULTS 
 
12-001 06/28/12 Routine SLIV – 10 CFR 71.5(a) [49 CFR 172.702 

and 177.817(e)] 
08-001 03/05/08 Routine SLIV – LC 21.A, 10 CFR 30.34(i), 71.5(a) 

[49 CFR 177.817(e)] 
03-001 01/15/03 Routine No violations 
00-001 09/11/00 Routine SLIV – LC 13.A, 18, 20.B, 10 CFR 71.5(a) 

[49 CFR 177.817(a) and 177.817(e)] 
 
3. INCIDENT/EVENT HISTORY: 

 
No incidents or events since the last routine inspection. 

 
 
PART II - INSPECTION DOCUMENTATION 
 
1. ORGANIZATION AND SCOPE OF PROGRAM: 
 

K&S Engineers, Inc. (the licensee), a professional engineering, survey, and inspection 
services company, was authorized to possess and use portable nuclear gauges at its 
facilities in Highland and Beech Grove, Indiana, and at temporary job sites in NRC 
jurisdiction.  At the time of the inspection, the licensee had 14 gauges, and five 
individuals authorized to use them.  The licensee possessed a survey instrument at its 
Highland facility in the event of an emergency. 

 
2. SCOPE OF INSPECTION:  

 
Inspection Procedure(s) Used:  87124 
 
Focus Areas Evaluated:  All 
 
The inspector toured the facility in Highland to evaluate the licensee’s measures for 
materials security, hazard communication, and exposure control for material in storage.  
The inspector interviewed several of the licensee’s gauge users to discuss aspects of 
the licensee’s procedures for the safe handling, use and transport of licensed material. 
 
The inspector also reviewed a selection of records including shipping papers, leak tests, 
utilization records, personnel dosimetry reports, and documentation of authorized user 
training.  The in-office review included an evaluation of program audit documentation not 
available at the time of the on-site inspection. 
 
  



 

3 

3. INDEPENDENT AND CONFIRMATORY MEASUREMENTS: 
 
Using a Thermo Fisher Rad Eye G survey meter calibrated on February 22, 2017, the 
inspector conducted independent surveys at the licensee’s facility in Highland.  The 
inspector found no readings which would indicate residual contamination or exposures to 
members of the public in excess of regulatory limits. 

  
4. VIOLATIONS, NCVs, AND OTHER SAFETY ISSUES: 

 
A. Possession of Radium-226 
 

During a tour of the licensee’s facility, the inspector identified an apparent violation of 
10 CFR 30.3(a) for the unauthorized possession of a Seaman Nuclear Corporation 
portable gauge containing approximately 4.5 mCi of radium-226 (Ra-226), and an 
apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.34(i) for the failure to secure this gauge with two 
barriers when not under control and constant surveillance. 
 
The inspector first noticed the gauge, a Seaman Nuclear Corporation model C-75-A 
(s/n 7192, original assay date 10/24/90), in its transportation case under a desk in 
the licensee’s testing lab.  The case had Yellow II shipping labels, and a radiation 
field of approximately 0.5 mR/hr at its surface.  The inspector asked the licensee to 
open the case after performing these surveys, and found the gauge to be in good 
condition.  The licensee’s RSO stated that it had obtained this device from an 
engineering company in Gary, Indiana around 10-15 years ago, but never used it.  
He was under the impression that this device was "exempt" from NRC requirements.  
This was true prior to the Energy Policy Act of 2005, which revised the definition of 
byproduct material to include discrete sources of radium as well as other categories 
of radionuclides.  As of November 30, 2007, however, when the licensing waiver for 
Indiana expired, the source became subject to the requirements of 10 CFR Part 30. 

 
The licensee had until recently kept the Seaman gauge in a locked storage room 
adjacent to the laboratory. During business hours, an exterior door to the laboratory 
was normally propped open, and therefore the lab was kept under surveillance by 
numerous lab personnel.  On nights and weekends, the laboratory itself was locked 
and alarmed instead, forming a second barrier after the locked storage room. 
  
However, approximately two months prior to the inspection, the device had been 
moved out of the storage room to accommodate repainting of the entire laboratory.  
The device, in its unlocked storage case, was placed under a desk in the lab, with no 
physical controls to secure it.  Therefore, during non-business hours, the gauge was 
secured by only one barrier:  the building itself. 
 
During the period of in-office review, the licensee confirmed that it had no records 
related the gauge’s acquisition or any maintenance that may have been performed. 
 
The inspector determined that the root cause of both violations was a 
misunderstanding of regulatory requirements.  As corrective action, the licensee 
secured the Seaman gauge by locking the lid of its case, securing the case inside 
the existing gauge storage cabinet using a locked chain, and then locking the door to 
the cabinet.  The licensee ordered a leak test kit from the manufacturer, collected 
and submitted a leak test sample on June 12, 2017, and received written 
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confirmation on July 19, 2017 from the manufacturer that the test was negative.  The 
licensee also submitted a request, dated June 6, 2017, to add the gauge to its NRC 
license.  As of the date of the exit meeting, the licensing action was still pending. 

 
Although the NRC normally considers escalated enforcement action for violations 
involving unauthorized possession of radioactive material and for violations involving 
the failure to adequately secure portable gauges, the agency recognized that 
discretion not to cite these violations was warranted in accordance with  
EGM-09-004, “Interim Guidance for Dispositioning Violations of Naturally Occurring 
and Accelerator-Produced Radioactive Materials (NARM) Requirements,” because 
(1) these violations did not result in actual safety, health or security consequences; 
(2) the violations were not willful; (3) the licensee was unaware that the definition of 
byproduct material was revised to include discrete sources of Ra-226; and (4) the 
licensee took timely and effective corrective action to secure the gauge properly and 
to request that the gauge be authorized on its NRC license. 

 
B. Hazmat Employee Training 
 

During a review of authorized user training records, the inspector identified a 
violation of 49 CFR 172.704(c)(2), which requires that a hazmat employees receive 
the training required by Subpart H to 49 CFR Part 172 at least once every three 
years. 
 
The inspector found that two hazmat employees had not received the required 
training in the last three years.  One individual had last received this training in March 
2004, the other in July 2012, intervals which exceeded three years by ten years plus 
two months, and one year plus ten months, respectively.  Although the licensee had 
developed a tracking sheet for hazmat training following the previous inspection, and 
had assigned an administrative staff member review the sheet monthly, these 
measures were not fully utilized to ensure that all gauge users received the required 
training.  The licensee did realize earlier in the month that one user (the one who last 
took hazmat training in July 2012) was past due, however, at the time of the 
inspection the user still had not taken the training.  The licensee did not realize that 
the other user was past due.    
 
The inspector determined that the root cause of the violation was an oversight by the 
licensee in ensuring that all hazmat employees had been trained within the last three 
years.   
 
As corrective action, on May 30, 2017, both hazmat employees completed the 
required training.  The RSO also reviewed and updated the company's tracking chart 
for safety training, and discussed the expectations for radiation safety training 
(including hazmat) with the administrative staff who helped manage the chart.  On 
May 31, 2017, the RSO forwarded copies of the training certifications to the 
inspector. 

 
C. Status of Previously Identified Violations 

 
The licensee was previously cited in IR 03028612/2012001(DNMS) for the failure to 
ensure that its hazmat employees were trained as required by 10 CFR 71.5(a) and 
49 CFR 172.704(c)(2) every three years, and for the failure to ensure that shipping 
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papers were maintained in one of the required locations, as required by 10 CFR 
71.5(a) and 49 CFR 177.817(e)(2)(ii).  The licensee took corrective actions as 
indicated in its response dated August 13, 2012; however, the inspector identified 
new examples of the violation regarding hazmat training, as discussed in section 
4.C, above.  This violation therefore remains open for further review.  The violation 
regarding shipping papers is closed. 

 
D. Oversight of the Radiation Safety Program 
 

The licensee performed semiannual audits of its radiation safety program using a 
checklist provided by the State of Illinois (the company also maintained a license to 
use and store its portable gauges at its office in Lombard, IL).  The inspector 
reviewed several of these audits.  None had identified any concerns or potential 
violations, despite including questions such as “Does the license authorize the 
possession and use of all radioactive material contained in the gauges possessed by 
the company?” and “Does each user have hazmat employee training as required by 
49 CFR 172?”.  It was not clear whether these audits, which only referenced the 
Illinois license number, actually included the evaluation of licensed activities in 
Indiana.  When asked, the licensee insisted that they did.  Although there was no 
evidence to prove otherwise, the inspector was nevertheless concerned about the 
adequacy of the licensee’s oversight of licensed activities in Indiana, considering the 
violations identified during this and previous routine inspections.  The inspector 
reiterated to the licensee the value of thorough audits at all facilities where licensed 
material was used or stored, and recommended that the NRC require the licensee 
provide a supplemental response to address the concerns about program oversight. 

 
5. PERSONNEL CONTACTED: 

 
# Dibakar Sundi, P.E. – President, RSO 
# Zeljko “Zack” Novakovich – Authorized User 
 
#  Attended exit meeting on July 19, 2017  

 
 

 
 


